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          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to the meeting on the Committee on Aging,

          4  and we are here to consider a resolution introduced

          5  by my colleague, Margarita Lopez, which would call

          6  upon the State Legislature and the Governor to enact

          7  legislation establishing Senior Citizen MetroCards

          8  as legal identification in New York City.

          9                 It's a very worthy undertaking, one

         10  of which I'm sure my colleagues will support, when

         11  they get here.

         12                 Let the record show, please, that

         13  Mike Abel is out on personal, you know, leave, his

         14  mother-in-law has passed away. My other colleagues,

         15  I'm sure, will come in as the weather permits them

         16  to drift to shore.

         17                 And that having been said, I will

         18  introduce the meeting with two speakers, one from

         19  the Department for the Aging, and which one of you

         20  is Department for the Aging?  And you?  Both of you

         21  are, okay.  I only have Katie Mendez.

         22                 When the proponent for the resolution

         23  comes in, I will certainly give her the floor, that

         24  is Margarita Lopez, she is the primary sponsor and I

         25  will certainly recognize her when she comes.
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          2                 So that having been said, will you

          3  please introduce yourselves and issue your

          4  statement?  Thank you.

          5                 MS. MENDEZ:  Good morning.  My name

          6  is Katie Mendez, and I'm the Director of - -

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Are you pushed

          8  in, is the button off?

          9                 MS. MENDEZ:  There is no light.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Good, okay,

         11  then get closer to the mic so you are recording

         12  properly.

         13                 MS. MENDEZ:  I'm Katie Mendez.  I'm

         14  the Director of Legislative Affairs for the New York

         15  City Department for the Aging, and to my left is

         16  Linda Black, the Department's Planning Specialist.

         17                 I'm pleased to have this opportunity

         18  to testify today on behalf of Commissioner Herbert

         19  Stupp, in support of City Council Resolution 800,

         20  and the subject of accepting a Reduced Fare

         21  MetroCards as a form of legal identification.

         22                 During Mayor Giuliani's

         23  Administration, the Department for the Aging has

         24  been able to maintain a strong senior transportation

         25  program, providing funding for transportation
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          2  service, including vans, drivers, maintenance and

          3  insurance through our non- profit contracting

          4  agencies.  This program helps seniors get to the

          5  doctor, visit their nearby senior center, and take

          6  care of other essential activities.  In 1999, over

          7  600,000 such one- way trips were provided.

          8  Department staff are also active in assisting

          9  seniors with enrollment in the Reduced Fare

         10  MetroCard program, and advocating for improvements

         11  to the program.

         12                 First introduced in 1994, the

         13  Metropolitan Transportation Authority MetroCard

         14  program is a method of fare payment on subways and

         15  buses.  Reduced Fare MetroCards, which are permanent

         16  cards displaying the bearer's photograph and

         17  signature, are available to seniors and persons with

         18  qualifying disabilities. Any senior is eligible for

         19  the card by completing an application form and

         20  providing proof that they reside within the five

         21  boroughs of New York City and that they are 65 years

         22  of age or older. Currently, about 280,000 seniors or

         23  just under one- third of the 65+ population,

         24  participate in the Reduced Far MetroCard Program.

         25                 The Department for the Aging has
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          2  worked with both the MTA and New York City Transit

          3  since the inception of the program on ways to

          4  improve and expand it, and has conducted extensive

          5  outreach to seniors about the benefits of the

          6  Reduced Fare MetroCard.

          7                 Seniors have several options when

          8  applying for a Reduced Fare MetroCard.  They can

          9  apply for a card from one of the MetroCard buses or

         10  vans which the MTA sends to different points around

         11  the City.  They can come other the Department for

         12  the Aging's Information and Referral Center, or they

         13  can go to one of two MTA Reduced Fare Service

         14  Centers, located at 370 Jay Street in Brooklyn, and

         15  the Saint George Ferry Terminal in Staten Island.

         16  These service centers first opened earlier this

         17  year, and we have been advocating with the MTA to

         18  expand their presence in every borough.

         19                 Seniors can add value to their

         20  MetroCards by going to a token booth or MetroCard

         21  Vending Machine located in subway stations, or to a

         22  MetroCard bus or van.  First installed this year,

         23  there are now 288 MetroCard Vending Machines in

         24  subway stations throughout the City.  We are

         25  advocating with the MTA to install MetroCard Vending
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          2  Machines in public buildings, stores and other above

          3  ground locations, so that riders do not have to go

          4  to a subway station to add value to their MetroCard

          5  Only 29 subway stations are currently accessible to

          6  the disabled, and getting to a subway station can

          7  present a major challenge to seniors, as well.

          8  Additionally, a Reduced Fare MTA Mail and Ride

          9  Program is scheduled to start in January 2000.  This

         10  program, which has already had a successful trial

         11  run as a pilot program, will allow seniors and

         12  people with disabilities to add value to their

         13  Reduced Fare MetroCards by check, credit card or

         14  money order.

         15                 For questions about the Reduced Fare

         16  Metro Card, to obtain an application or for a

         17  schedule of the MetroCard Bus and Van Program,

         18  individuals can call the MTA Reduced Fare Line at

         19  (718) 243- 4999.  They can also call the DFTA

         20  Information Line at (212) 442- 1000 for information

         21  about the MetroCard application.

         22                 During the 1999 State legislative

         23  session, an Assembly bill, A.8652, was introduced

         24  which would amend the General Business Law to

         25  authorize MTA Reduced Fare MetroCards to be accepted
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          2  by government agencies, political subdivisions,

          3  banks and other commercial establishments as valid

          4  identification.  This one house bill did not pass in

          5  the Assembly.

          6                 Resolution 800, the subject of your

          7  hearing today, would call upon the State Legislature

          8  and the Governor to enact legislation authorizing

          9  Senior Reduced Fare MetroCards to be accepted as

         10  legal identification.

         11                 The Department supports the concept

         12  of allowing Senior Reduced Fare MetroCards to be

         13  accepted as a form of valid personal identification.

         14    For older New Yorkers, there are many situation

         15  when photo identification is useful, including

         16  cashing social security checks at check cashing

         17  centers, paying for items by check or money order at

         18  Post Offices, and obtaining senior discounts at

         19  museums and theaters.  Many seniors do not have

         20  other forms of legal identification, such as a

         21  driver's license or passport.  And while they may

         22  obtain a non- driver identification card through the

         23  New York State Department of Motor vehicles, this is

         24  not easy because of the scarcity of locations.

         25  Additionally, a fee of $4.50 is required.  Because
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          2  the Senior Reduced Fare MetroCard requires proof of

          3  age and residency, and includes both the bearer's

          4  photograph and signature, it is a sensible option

          5  for acceptance as a form of personal identification.

          6                 The Department does, however, have

          7  some concerns about Resolution 800.  First the State

          8  Assembly Bill proposes allowing the Reduced Fare

          9  MetroCard to be a valid form of identification for

         10  both seniors and disabled cardholders. Resolution

         11  800 would seek to have the card be accepted as

         12  identification for senior cardholders only.  We

         13  would urge the Council to consider supporting a

         14  proposal that includes disabled cardholders as well.

         15                 Secondly, the senior Reduced Fare

         16  MetroCard does not indicate the bearer's age, only

         17  that he or she is a senior. Although most programs

         18  for seniors have a minimum age of 65, the Reduced

         19  Fare MetroCard may not be adequate identification

         20  for some programs because it does not include a date

         21  of birth.  We recommend that the MTA- NYC Transit

         22  consider adding the date of birth as a feature of

         23  the Reduced Fare MetroCard.  This would better

         24  ensure its effectiveness as a form of senior

         25  identification.
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          2                 The department for the Aging is

          3  pleased to support Resolution 800.  We thank the

          4  Committee on aging and Chairwoman Harrison for your

          5  continued efforts on behalf of older New Yorkers,

          6  and we look forward to working with you and the

          7  State Legislature toward passage of legislation

          8  authorizing the use of Reduced Fare MetroCards as

          9  legal identification.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you very

         11  much, that is very informative information you

         12  shared with us.

         13                 May I introduce Council Member Una

         14  Clarke, correct for this time.  Today I got it, I

         15  normally misintroduce my colleague, for whom I have

         16  the greatest respect.  Do you have any questions,

         17  Una, since you came in late and I don't know if you

         18  heard the entire presentation?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Yes, I think

         20  that what heard the resolution is good, and since

         21  this year we have also added a special category of

         22  persons to reduce fare, which is the mentally ill,

         23  that we look at all people who may have disabilities

         24  and aging, who now use Reduced MetroCard, and so if

         25  we do that, we do it as a broad sweep of persons who
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          2  are eligible to have such cards.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you.

          4  Would you like to elucidate on your question about

          5  the minimum age of 65 that you raised on page 5 of

          6  your testimony?

          7                 MS. MENDEZ:  Sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  What is wrong

          9  with, for example, recognizing persons who otherwise

         10  qualify at age 55 as being senior under some

         11  programs, I think, HARP includes that.

         12                 And may I introduce my other

         13  colleague from Brooklyn, Council Member Howard

         14  Lasher.  Thank you, Howard, we just had the first

         15  presentation from DFTA.  Yes, I'm sorry.

         16                 MS. MENDEZ:  The card is, as I say in

         17  the testimony, is for those age 65 and older.  So if

         18  you have a card it will say senior, it will identify

         19  you as a senior.  However, there are instances when

         20  someone looking for identification wants something

         21  more specific, - -

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Who are you

         23  advocating for DFTA or the MTA?

         24                 MS. MENDEZ:  We're advocating for

         25  seniors.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Well with

          3  seniors, I have many people I know who are 55 and

          4  consider themselves in the senior category.  Would

          5  they be wrong?

          6                 MS. MENDEZ:  Right, and they would

          7  not be eligible for that card, unless, I mean, if

          8  they had a disability - -

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  In other

         10  words, in order to qualify with MTA to get the card

         11  they must have to be 65.

         12                 MS. MENDEZ:  Have to be 65, right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  But the card

         14  itself does not indicate the age.

         15                 MS. MENDEZ:  Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  But what is

         17  the problem that that presents then?

         18                 MS. MENDEZ:  In most instances it

         19  would not present a problem, but we feel that it

         20  would just be more specific, more useful if the

         21  birth date were printed, so that someone reviewing

         22  the card would not have the question, well, you

         23  know, what is your definition of senior, and maybe

         24  they have their own definition.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Well the
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          2  ordinary person, if you flash a card and it says

          3  senior citizen and you look half- way over 25, they

          4  accept you as being a senior citizen.

          5                 MS. MENDEZ:  Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  So I don't

          7  that that would be a very substantial problem.

          8                 MS. MENDEZ:  No, but I think it would

          9  be an improvement, and some of our information

         10  referral specialists have found that that would be

         11  useful, and they recommended it to us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, but I

         13  don't consider it threatening to the introduction of

         14  the resolution itself.

         15                 MS. MENDEZ:  No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Would you like

         17  to make any comments?  Thank you.  Howard, please.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Yes, I would

         19  just like to join in the resolution and I think that

         20  it is something that is very good for our seniors,

         21  and I would like to be on the resolution.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Do you

         23  consider yourself a senior?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Ah, no.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  But it

          3  depends how you do it, if you do it arithmetically,

          4  yes, but otherwise not.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, I can

          6  understand that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  And I would

          8  like to join with you on your resolution.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you,

         10  would you make note, and Council Member Clarke.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.  There

         14  being no further questions, I thank you both for

         15  having come, and I welcome a colleague, Lucy Cruz.

         16  Son of a gun, I'm going to be caught again. I was

         17  going to call Assemblywomen, Deborah Glick who had

         18  been here earlier.  Can you see if Debbie is

         19  outside, please?  I would like to call her since we

         20  were talking about the cooperation of the Assembly.

         21                 How are you feeling, sister?  Feeling

         22  okay?  Nice to have you back.  Council Member Lucy

         23  Cruz has joined us from the Bronx and from her sick

         24  bed.  We're glad she is back.  We will just wait a

         25  minute to see whether or not Assemblywomen Glick is
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          2  available, and then we will proceed if she is not.

          3                 Then, Ms. Briggs, please, from the

          4  Community, something, I'm sorry, I can't read it,

          5  from senior citizens, come, please, forward?  Good

          6  morning, thank you for coming out in this hallow

          7  weather to testify to this very important issue.

          8  Would you identify yourself by name and the

          9  organization that you represent, please?  And make

         10  sure the button is off, the light is off, that is

         11  the way we work, backwards, okay.

         12                 MS. BRIGGS:  I am Catherine A.

         13  Briggs, of the Senior Citizen Community that is

         14  represented there at 22nd Street.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.

         16                 MS. BRIGGS:  Okay.  I started off

         17  writing to the City Council and when I typed it, I

         18  changed it, To Whom It May Concern, I don't know

         19  why, but anyway, I'm addressing it to everyone.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you.

         21                 MS. BRIGGS:  It is with deep

         22  appreciation to all of you for your efforts to help

         23  the senior citizens to use the MetroCard as legal

         24  identification.

         25                 Since becoming a senior I have lost
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          2  so many valuable items, either through senility or

          3  thefts, until I have remedied the problem by

          4  carrying less important papers and/or items, and no

          5  purse.  Every night I pack my carrier with what I

          6  will need for the next day only.

          7                 I wish to relate an incident that I

          8  had with the Municipal Credit Union.  One day I went

          9  to withdraw money and the teller gold me to show a

         10  credit card for my signature and a driving license

         11  for my photo.  I proudly showed my Senior Citizen

         12  MetroCard, which was pushed back to me, demanding

         13  the two pieces she had asked for.  I got so angry

         14  that I went to the supervisor, who asked me to put

         15  everything in writing, which I did.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Right there

         17  while you were there?  All right.

         18                 MS. BRIGGS:  And at the next meeting

         19  it was approved.

         20                 I argued that before I could get this

         21  senior card, I had to submit proof of my age, birth

         22  certificate, passport, or my red, white and blue

         23  social security card showing my A and B status, you

         24  don't get that until after you're 65, a recent photo

         25  along with my signature before two witnesses, a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  notary public and the legal seal.  To my way of

          3  thinking, this single card should be better than a

          4  driving license, which could have been confiscated

          5  because of age or health reasons, and definitely

          6  over a credit card, which could have been lost or

          7  stolen.  Everything needed was on this one piece of

          8  I.D., including a MTA number.

          9                 Since we seniors need as much help as

         10  possible, please, help us to lightened our daily

         11  carrying load by passing this important issue.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you.

         13  How did you learn about the bill being brought

         14  before the Council today?  You have had your own

         15  personal experiences not having something like this

         16  being recognized, but how were you informed about

         17  the fact that it was coming before us today?

         18                 MS. BRIGGS:  Through our - -

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  At the center?

         20                 MS. BRIGGS:  Yes, at the center.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And because

         22  you have had this negative experience you

         23  volunteered to come forward?

         24                 MS. BRIGGS:  Oh, yes, and I

         25  volunteered, yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Good.  Is this

          3  something that has happened not only to you, but to

          4  other members of your center, as well, or haven't

          5  you heard?

          6                 MS. BRIGGS:  No, I have not, but we

          7  do have another person here from the center.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Oh, you have.

          9  Well, who is that person, can you tell me?  Is that

         10  from  Ghislayne De La Fonchais?  Oh, isn't that

         11  nice, come forward and speak with your colleague,

         12  please?  Just take another chair, okay?  Excuse me,

         13  after you have spoken, I will open the floor for

         14  questions of either of you, okay?  And please

         15  introduce yourself by name?

         16                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Yes, I'm

         17  Ghislayne de la Fonchais, and I am a member of the

         18  same Community Lounge for Senior Citizens.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, and is

         20  your button pushed?

         21                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Yes, it is.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, thank

         23  you.  Bring the mic closer to you mouth, honey,

         24  okay?  Thank you.

         25                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Well I'm very
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          2  excited to be here, and I want to thank everybody

          3  present, and especially Margarita Lopez, because it

          4  was my idea that has brought us all here today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Oh, isn't that

          6  exciting. Well, she was smart enough to act on a

          7  good idea, then.

          8                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Okay.  In 1997,

          9  having returned to New York from Connecticut, I

         10  tried to cash a check at another branch than my main

         11  branch, and I had a Connecticut driving license, but

         12  it had expired two weeks before, as only valid ID,

         13  and except for my MetroCard.  I could not cash my

         14  check, I did eventually at my own branch, but at

         15  great inconvenience and delay.

         16                 At a recent meeting last March at my

         17  senior center, a group leader was asking for any

         18  suggestions that we may take action on, and I came

         19  up with wanting to make the MetroCard a legal

         20  identification in New York City, based on the fact

         21  that one must show proof of ID to get one, that it

         22  is our photo and signature on it and that it is

         23  issued by MTA, a New York State Agency.

         24                 The suggestion was approve by our

         25  group and the Center's Director, Ellen Szilagyi,
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          2  suggested I write a letter to Governor Pataki on the

          3  Center's letterhead and with as many signatures of

          4  our members.  We also sent copies to many persons in

          5  the City government for their support, and this is

          6  how Margarita Lopez responded.

          7                 Most seniors, especially the elderly,

          8  are frail and do not like to carry unnecessary

          9  papers because, unfortunately, they are a target for

         10  thieves and pickpockets.  Many don't have passports

         11  or driver's licenses and don't have the energy or

         12  money to go downtown to get a non- driver's license.

         13    While if they have identified themselves to MTA's

         14  satisfaction and they need to carry their MetroCard

         15  to travel about, that should suffice as ID in all

         16  banks and stores and wherever legal ID is required,

         17  and of course, insurance companies are first who

         18  would have to approve it for stores, since stores

         19  don't decide on those matters themselves.

         20                 I thank you for your consideration of

         21  this very important matter.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Let me ask you

         23  a question before I turn the floor over to my

         24  colleagues.  Does MetroCard have an expiration time

         25  on it?
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          2                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Yes, it does.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And could you

          4  describe that? I mean, what happens, how do you

          5  renew it once you have had it?

          6                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  They advise you

          7  because you are on their list that your date is off

          8  and that you should come in and, it is actually for

          9  a very long time.  Mine is until 2001, for instance,

         10  and it was issued about two years ago.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Oh, really, so

         12  it is about four or five years that the card is

         13  valid?

         14                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Certainly two

         15  years.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Two years?

         17                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And where do

         19  you have to go to renew it, and how difficult is it

         20  to renew?

         21                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Not difficult

         22  because they have a schedule of where the buses and

         23  vans are going to be in your neighborhood, and they

         24  usually pass, for instance, - -

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  At the center?
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          2                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS: - -  at the

          3  center.  And then you're - -

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And you're

          5  told in advance  -

          6                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS: - -  told in

          7  advance.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: - -  when the

          9  center day is.

         10                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Oh, yes,

         11  absolutely.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Would you like

         13  to add?

         14                 MS. BRIGGS:  Yes, I would like to add

         15  to that, that mine was sent in the mail to me, the

         16  second card, I did not have to go anywhere.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  How had you

         18  applied?  You mean the first card expired?

         19                 MS. BRIGGS:  The first time I

         20  applied.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Yes.

         22                 MS. BRIGGS:  Then when before that

         23  expired they had sent me the second card in the

         24  mail.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Oh, that was
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          2  very good, very efficient.

          3                 MS. BRIGGS:  You see because they

          4  have them each number and the photo was already on

          5  the second card, and I submitted a photo.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  So it's no

          7  difficulty for you to renew it?

          8                 MS. BRIGGS:  No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And so you can

         10  always have a valid card with you.

         11                 MS. BRIGGS:  Yes.  I did lose my

         12  card, and surprisingly I didn't have to go anywhere

         13  but just call them on the phone to report it, and

         14  they looked it up, and sent me a new one with my

         15  photo in the mail.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  That's very

         17  thoughtful, very good.

         18                 My colleagues, anyone have comment or

         19  questions?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  It's just

         21  nice to hear nice things being said about the MTA.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  I hope it's

         23  nice tomorrow, too, son of a gun.

         24                 MS. BRIGGS:  I think it is only nice

         25  for the senior citizens, it's good to be over 65.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  A lot of us

          3  are pretty close.

          4                 MS. BRIGGS:  Oh, no.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  I mean

          6  sitting up here, I don't know about down there, but

          7  sitting up here.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, the

          9  sponsor of our beautiful resolution has arrived.

         10  I'm sorry Margarita, we began on time out of respect

         11  for people.  Council Member Margarita Lopez, who is

         12  the primary sponsor of this resolution.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Sometime ago I

         14  began receiving in my office many calls from seniors

         15  who were having difficulties in traveling, that was

         16  the first problem that they confronted in the

         17  airports.  They were told without an ID they cannot

         18  go through, and it was many cases in which seniors

         19  were told that they cannot even aboard an airplane.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Really?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And they lost

         22  the trip because they didn't have ID's.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Really, okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  That had

         25  photos and signature.  Then when this new rule was

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            25

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  put in place by the Federal Government, it's not

          3  that it is a bad rule, but they forgot that many of

          4  our seniors, for different reasons, may not have

          5  photo IDs with signatures.

          6                 Then when I began receiving these

          7  calls one of the things that I did was to try to

          8  facilitate for them to get the non driver's ID, but

          9  that in itself is an SSI, and in order for the

         10  senior to be able to acquire this non- driver's ID

         11  they need other IDs to prove who they are, then that

         12  proven to be not necessarily successful, beside that

         13  they had to pay for it.

         14                 Then in base of all the calls that I

         15  received, I began thinking how this can resolved.

         16  One of the senior centers that I have in my district

         17  was so smart to send me the idea, and they asked me,

         18  if we can get the non- driver, if we can get the

         19  MetroCard as an ID in this City that would be

         20  recognized.  As a result of that I introduced the

         21  bill and I contacted Assemblywoman Deborah Glick,

         22  that is my counterpart in the Assembly in order for

         23  her and I to work together on this issue, and that

         24  is the background information on it.

         25                 And with that I leave the rest
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          2  meeting to the people here.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Well that's

          4  fine.  Do you want to stay here with us?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Yes, I am.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Tracy Boyland

          7  from Brooklyn has just fallen across the river,

          8  okay, thank you for coming. Swam, well, I think she

          9  probably blown, too.  Thank you both ladies, yes,

         10  you want to say something.

         11                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  I have a

         12  question.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Certainly.

         14                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  After writing my

         15  original request to Margarita Lopez, it has occurred

         16  to me that since it is a State agency, why would we

         17  have to limit that that would be valid only in New

         18  York City?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  It wouldn't,

         20  if it were a State law, it would be Statewide.

         21                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  So it would be

         22  Statewide?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Sure.

         24                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  If you traveled

         25  in New York State that would still be considered.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  That is the

          3  reason I contacted Assemblywoman Deborah Glick, who

          4  is here today to speak on this issue.  Because I

          5  understood that this issue had to be addressed at

          6  two levels, Statewide and City- wide.  You're going

          7  to hear from her, she is here and she is going to

          8  testify.

          9                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  Okay, thank you

         10  personally.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  My pleasure,

         12  and thank you for eliminating my brain.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  We share, we

         14  share, we share. Would Assemblywoman Glick, please,

         15  come forward at this time, since we're all together?

         16    And if any of the folks who came in after the

         17  meeting had started want to offer any testimony,

         18  please, see the Sergeant- At- Arms and fill out a

         19  form so that we can hear from you too, after

         20  Assemblywoman has completed?  Okay, our Sergeant-

         21  At- Arms would you offer them some forms to fill

         22  out?

         23                 Yes, Assemblywoman Glick, it is an

         24  honor to have you here, thank you for coming.

         25                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Thank you very
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          2  much.  I want to thank you for giving me the

          3  opportunity to come before you to testify on behalf

          4  of the efforts of Council Member Margarita Lopez to

          5  address this problem facing older New Yorkers.

          6                 The problem of photo identification

          7  is one that evolved in recent years, as Margarita

          8  has already pointed out, due to concerns about

          9  security in general and air travel in particular.

         10  The requirement to show government issued photo ID

         11  before being allowed on airplanes was the first and

         12  most obvious problem that was encountered, though

         13  not the last.

         14                 The various documents that might be

         15  accepted, for various reasons, might not be readily

         16  available to all seniors. While the Department of

         17  Motor Vehicles provides a non- driver ID which can

         18  be used, there are obstacles facing older people in

         19  obtaining this type of ID.  First of all, there is a

         20  fee involved which may be a barrier for many people.

         21    For those older people who never had a driver's

         22  license, it would never occur to them that the

         23  Department of Motor Vehicles might be able to issue

         24  a non- driver ID.  For those that did drive, but

         25  hadn't in many years, their driving privileges took
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          2  place at a time when licenses didn't commonly have

          3  photos attached.  So likewise they might not be

          4  aware of this option.

          5                 Furthermore, not only does the fee

          6  involved act as a barrier, but the ability to meet

          7  the paperwork requirements of the Department of

          8  Motor Vehicle's non- driver ID program is a

          9  deterrent.  First of all foreign birth certificates

         10  are not acceptable as proof of date of birth.  Birth

         11  certificates are the single, most important document

         12  that they use in this program. Other types of

         13  documents are focused on work- related paperwork.

         14  For older women, many of whom never worked outside

         15  of the home, this category of identification proof

         16  is useless.  For those who did, the likelihood of

         17  having saved their W- 2 forms for the last 10 or 20

         18  years prior is close to nil.

         19                 I personally experienced the problems

         20  involved in this method of obtaining government

         21  issued photo ID, when my elderly mother needed to

         22  fly to Rochester.  She hadn't flown in many years,

         23  long before photo ID was necessary, and her

         24  experience with the circular reasoning about what

         25  documents constitute adequate proof sensitized me to
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          2  the problems facing other seniors.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  How long has

          4  this been going on that you have to have a photo ID?

          5                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Since, for the

          6  most part I would say, as Margarita pointed out,

          7  once they started to require photo ID on planes - -

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  But when did

          9  that start?

         10                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  I would say

         11  about six years ago.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Really?  Just

         13  surprised that I have never been stopped.

         14                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  They ask when

         15  you check in and you show your ticket, they then

         16  just say, may I see an ID?  And if you pull out

         17  something that doesn't have a photo and a signature,

         18  it is not accepted as valid, and people have been

         19  turned away.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you.

         21                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Yes, it has to

         22  government issued, and a Medicare Card, which people

         23  over 65 would have, doesn't have a photo, and so

         24  that is not acceptable.  And so there is this sort

         25  of Catch- 22, if I can use that today, is, in fact,
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          2  the problem that was brought to Margarita in which

          3  coincidently at the time she was talking to me about

          4  it, we were confronting with my own mother.

          5                 As a result I have worked with

          6  Margarita and have introduced legislation into the

          7  State Assembly to require the acceptance of the

          8  photo MetroCard as proper identification.  As you

          9  know the MetroCard is issued after an individual

         10  presents their Medicare Card, which demonstrates

         11  that they are of at least 65 years of age, and they

         12  must provide proof of their address.   A photo is

         13  taken on the spot, which ensures that the person and

         14  the photo match.  This should become valid

         15  acceptable official identification for older New

         16  Yorkers to use as they travel and as they conduct

         17  business.

         18                 Now I think the other thing that is

         19  true for many seniors is that they may be asked for

         20  two pieces of identification for certain kinds of

         21  transactions, and they may have one thing but not

         22  another, major credit cards are not available to

         23  many of our seniors who are on fixed incomes and who

         24  don't have great resources.  So the kinds of things

         25  that the average person uses as identification which
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          2  presents no problem to us, actually creates serious

          3  problems for senior citizens.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, thank

          5  you.  And are there any questions?  Yes, Margarita.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Assemblywoman,

          7  one of the things about this proposal is that it

          8  will not cost a penny to anyone, correct?

          9                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Absolutely,

         10  this is one of those things that we love in

         11  government when it is a revenue neutral issue.  The

         12  MetroCards are a process that are already in place,

         13  and the government would simply state that since the

         14  MTA is a quasi- public organization that does go

         15  through a specific process of obtaining

         16  identification in order to produce the photo ID,

         17  then that would be without any additional cost at

         18  any level of government, so I see this as a strong

         19  win/win.  I will leave you copies of the

         20  legislation, which is very straightforward.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  With regard to

         22  that, Assemblywoman, what are the prospects of

         23  getting it through the both Houses of the

         24  Legislature?

         25                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  I'm actually
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          2  very optimistic. I think that we're moving towards,

          3  right now this is used primarily in the City of New

          4  York, but you have more and more people in the

          5  region, and since the MTA is regional it impacts

          6  people in Westchester and Long Island, and as this

          7  becomes a more widely used vehicle, then I think the

          8  other side, the other House, which is Republican

          9  controlled, and they have many Senators on Long

         10  Island, I think we will get a good response.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Do you have

         12  any sponsor or any potentials so far?

         13                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  You know at the

         14  moment we introduced this very late in last session

         15  at a point when the Senate had stopped initiating

         16  legislation, but we have it before two Senators for

         17  their review.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  May I ask who

         19  they are?

         20                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  One is Senator

         21  Trunzo from Long Island, and I think, the other is

         22  Fuschillo, but I'm not 100 percent sure.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Would you have

         24  any objection if I were to ask Frank Padavan to be a

         25  sponsor?
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          2                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Oh, I have

          3  absolutely no objection whatsoever.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.  We have

          5  had some very cooperative activities in the past

          6  with regard to acupuncture, which was a little bit

          7  off the wall at the time it was being introduced.

          8                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Well Senator

          9  Padavan and I were prime sponsors on the slow speed

         10  bill which just recently passed, so I have worked

         11  with Frank, and would be happy.

         12                 I was simply looking for someone - -

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  From outside

         14  of the City.

         15                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK: - -  from

         16  outside of the City, but I have no objection to

         17  Senator Padavan.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  So if I

         19  remember when I get back to the office, I would like

         20  to contact him.

         21                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  That would

         22  perfectly fine with me.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Fine.  Thank

         24  you.

         25                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Any questions,

          3  anybody?  All right, thank you very much,

          4  Assemblywoman.

          5                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Happy, healthy

          6  holidays to all of you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And to you

          8  too.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Just want to

         10  say thank you for always being so, such a colleague

         11  with me in everything that we do together down

         12  there.

         13                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN GLICK:  Well thank you,

         14  this motivated us.  Thanks very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, thank

         16  you.  Irene D'Alessio and Kathryn Bulina, would you

         17  both come forward at the same time and each take one

         18  microphone?  And if you would decide which one goes

         19  both, both introduce yourselves by your name and the

         20  organization you're representing, okay?

         21                 MS. BULINA:  My name is Kathryn

         22  Bulina.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Talk into the

         24  mic, honey.

         25                 MS. BULINA:  My name is Kathryn
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          2  Bulina.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  You can move

          4  this around to suit yourself, you don't have to

          5  shift.  Okay.

          6                 MS. BULINA:  And I wanted to get an

          7  ID over at the Motor Vehicle, and I did not get one.

          8    They told me certain things that I should bring,

          9  and I brought them, but it's not enough.  I have my

         10  marriage license, they tell me - -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  It didn't

         12  prove a thing, right?

         13                 MS. BULINA: - -  that doesn't prove a

         14  search, that I could go over here and get one from

         15  the court.  What do I need it for, my husband is

         16  dead seven years, I don't need no marriage license

         17  anymore, and I have my other papers - -

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  A bureaucratic

         19  mind, what can I tell you.

         20                 MS. BULINA:  It's true.  So the

         21  things that I took, there is only three items that

         22  was good for me to get it, this was in July.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.

         24                 MS. BULINA:  So I still haven't got

         25  it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  You still

          3  haven't got it, okay.

          4                 MS. BULINA:  No.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  So you are all

          6  in favor of this proposed piece of legislation?

          7                 MS. BULINA:  Yes, I am, I have all my

          8  papers what I was down there with.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Good.  I'm

         10  glad you're able to laugh at us, I think I would be

         11  tearing at the roots.

         12                 Would you go next, please?

         13                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  Yes, thank you.  My

         14  name is Irene D'Alessio.  I represent the Self

         15  Reliance Association of American Ukrainians at 98

         16  2nd Avenue.  It's a service center for the elderly

         17  and other members of the community in East Village.

         18  I'm pleased to speak to the Council members today in

         19  support of Council Member Margarita Lopez's

         20  resolution to ask the State Legislature and the

         21  Governor to enact legislation to establish Senior

         22  Citizen MetroCards as legal ID in New York City.

         23                 As a social worker with over 20 years

         24  of experience with the elderly, both in City and

         25  voluntary agencies, I would like to convey to you
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          2  the difficulties that the elderly face in securing a

          3  legal, acceptable identification and the humiliation

          4  they endure when unable to produce such

          5  identification upon request.

          6                 In New York City, you know I don't

          7  want to repeat myself, a legal ID, for the most

          8  part, consists of a driver's license or a non-

          9  driver's ID or a passport, if you have it. Whether

         10  making a purchase with a personal check or taking a

         11  trip by airplane, we are asked to produce a photo

         12  ID.  For us it may be a simple matter, you know, we

         13  drive cars, we have social security, we have other

         14  forms of ID.  Try boarding a plane without one, as

         15  Assemblywoman Glick said, it's pretty hard.  I mean

         16  I have to show my driver's license.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  This is news

         18  to me, I'm sorry, I guess I haven't been traveling

         19  too much lately.  But I have been traveling and the

         20  request for the ID just never penetrated, I just

         21  automatically showed it, and I never even thought as

         22  to why they were asking me for it, you know.   So

         23  I'm glad that you're making this point.

         24                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  Yes, a trip overseas,

         25  you have a passport and in addition to that you have
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          2  to show - -

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Your Visa.

          4                 MS. D'ALESSIO: - -  they immediately

          5  ask you for a driver's license.  If you're taking a

          6  trip within the states it's the same thing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Right.

          8                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  You either show your

          9  passport or your driver's license.

         10                 For a senior citizen who has reached

         11  the age of 75, 80, 85 or more, and many of our

         12  seniors are of that age now, having to verify his or

         13  her identity can be humiliating and a demeaning

         14  experience.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And also

         16  frustrating and amplifying.

         17                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  Frustrating, why

         18  should I have to show proof of who I am, not being

         19  able to produce a photo ID when paying by check, can

         20  make a person feel like a non- entity or even a liar

         21  or a thief.

         22                 And I would like to tell you about

         23  the experience I had with one of our members in

         24  accompanying her to the Department of Motor Vehicles

         25  and some of the incidents that she had, the
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          2  humiliation she had to endure.  Mrs. T. Is unable to

          3  testify here today, so I would like to speak in her

          4  behalf, if I may?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Sure.

          6                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  She had a doctor's

          7  appointment. Mrs. T. Had two offensive and upsetting

          8  experiences because she lacked a legal form of photo

          9  ID.  Mrs. T. Is an 85- year- old widow, who lives

         10  alone in Manhattan.  On a recent trip to Florida to

         11  visit her son, she was detained at the airport

         12  because she didn't have a driver's license or a non-

         13  driver ID.  She was told she would be unable to take

         14  her trip.  Now she had a ticket, she was ready to

         15  go.  Somehow, somehow, she convinced them to allow

         16  her to board the plane, as she was visibly shaken

         17  and upset.  However, she was informed that in order

         18  to return to New York City by plane, she would have

         19  to send them her naturalization paper, which she had

         20  at home in a draw.  So when she arrived in Florida

         21  she called her neighbor and asked her to go through

         22  her apartment, look for this naturalization paper,

         23  which she found, and she had to mail it to her in

         24  Florida, otherwise, she wouldn't have been able to

         25  come back, this is what she was told.  So imagine
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          2  how she must have felt.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Ridiculous,

          4  right.

          5                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  Yes, and in the - -

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Are they

          7  looking for terrorists, is that what they're looking

          8  for?

          9                 MS. D'ALESSIO:   I don't know, and

         10  you know you look- -

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Is senior

         12  citizens going to bomb?

         13                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  That's a good - -

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  She is over 90

         15  years old. Bernie, excuse me, would you ask Council

         16  Member Clarke, if you can find her in her office to

         17  return, we will be having a vote, thank you?  I'm

         18  sorry, go ahead, please.

         19                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  That's okay, I think

         20  I need my glasses.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.

         22                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  Okay, and then in

         23  another instance Mrs. T. Who likes to pay, make

         24  purchases with a personal check, she tried to

         25  purchase a pair of orthopedic shoes that her doctor
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          2  had prescribed with a personal check, apparently it

          3  was some costly item, since she didn't have the

          4  photo ID she couldn't get the shoes.  She had to

          5  return the following day with cash to buy the shoes.

          6

          7                 So these two experiences left her

          8  feeling pretty demeaned and disgraced, pretty bad,

          9  and so for the last couple of months she has been

         10  asking me, please, take me to the DMV, the

         11  Department of Motor Vehicles to get my photo ID.  I

         12  finally found the time to do it, I mean there was no

         13  else to go with her.

         14                 Why did she have to have an escort?

         15  She couldn't, the idea of going down there alone was

         16  just too overwhelming for her.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  I feel the

         18  same way and I have gone through it myself.

         19                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  Well, there you go.

         20                 MS. BULINA:  I waited two hours

         21  there.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:   Yes, I went

         23  down for one simple thing and after waiting and

         24  waiting and getting on line and being snapped at, I

         25  just said the hell with it all, and I went back
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          2  home, the hell with it.

          3                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  There you go, so it

          4  is humiliating.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Well I didn't

          6  have the patience to go to the office again and

          7  fighting.  Okay, next time I will.  I'm sorry.

          8                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  That's all right.

          9  Well first of all I had to find out where it was, I

         10  live in Queens, but in any case, I got the list of

         11  documents needed through the internet, because I

         12  wanted to be ready for her to tell her what she had

         13  to take.  I mean, I did call them up and they mailed

         14  it to me, but they mailed me a list of the items,

         15  which I have here with me, and I can - -

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Well we will

         17  take your word for it.

         18                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  Exhibit A.  Well,

         19  anyway it adds up to seven items or seven points,

         20  and one of the main items is proof of birth.  But at

         21  any rate, the traveling part was very difficult for

         22  her, she felt that she wouldn't be able to get there

         23  on her own and that she wouldn't be able to fill out

         24  the applications.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And she
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          2  wouldn't be able to buck all the aggravation being

          3  by herself.

          4                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  That's it, because

          5  her English is limited, although she understands

          6  English.  So as I said she wouldn't have been able

          7  to manage the applications on her own.  You know the

          8  one thing the application is in very small print, it

          9  is a simple application, but it's small print and

         10  you really have to know what your doing.

         11                 There is no place to sit down and

         12  fill out the application, you go to the window, I

         13  had to ask questions, there is no information desk

         14  to tell you where to go, and so we sat on the bench

         15  and filled out the application.  And then you were

         16  given a number.  You sit down and look at the

         17  electronic board, which is way down on the other

         18  side of the room.  So the numbers on the electronic

         19  board are really hard to read because they keep

         20  popping up, so someone may not be able to really be

         21  aware and you could miss your turn.

         22                 The other point that I would like to

         23  make about the getting the non- driver's ID is that

         24  it's really a problematic thing as Assemblywoman

         25  Glick mentioned for many senior citizens obtaining

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  the non- driver's ID can be very problematic,

          3  mainly, because of the requirements for the proof of

          4  date of birth are very stringent. They don't accept

          5  foreign birth certificates and foreign passports are

          6  not accepted as valid proof of birth.  We have many

          7  non- US people, people who were not born in the US.

          8  And then you are told well get a passport, so

          9  obtaining a US passport or other documents to show

         10  proof of birth can be a very costly thing for

         11  seniors on fixed incomes.

         12                 The problem is exacerbated by the

         13  lack of mobility by the elderly, many are unable to

         14  travel on their own or have difficulty using public

         15  transportation, and then visiting the various

         16  agencies to replace the documents needed, as Ms.

         17  Bulina said, why should she have to go and get a

         18  birth certificate and wait on line and other

         19  documents.  You know it is very difficult for them

         20  to travel to all these agencies.

         21                 Many of our seniors have difficulty

         22  with English and they require an interpreter to

         23  assist with the applications for a non- driver ID,

         24  and it is very difficult to find someone.  Their

         25  only hope is if they can find someone, like a social

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  worker or a relative or a friend to do these things

          3  for them, to escort them to the offices and to

          4  assist with the application process. Unfortunately,

          5  most elderly do not have anyone available to assist

          6  them, having to rely on friends and neighbors is

          7  very difficult. Therefore, for many obtaining this

          8  legal form ID can be prohibitive.  As a result many

          9  senior citizens do not have any type of legal form

         10  of identification for the following reasons:

         11                 They do not know where to obtain it,

         12  they don't know where the office is.

         13                 They cannot travel on their own, and

         14  have no one to provide escort.

         15                 They have difficulty with English and

         16  cannot obtain an interpreter.

         17                 Documents, such as proof of birth,

         18  are unavailable to them.

         19                 The cost of traveling and replacing

         20  documents is unaffordable to many.

         21                 Consequently, I am in favor of

         22  providing easier access to a legal form of

         23  identification for senior citizens, one that would

         24  enable everyone to obtain such an ID without

         25  extensive traveling and waiting on long lines.  The
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          2  Senior Citizen MetroCard which is available free of

          3  charge, and is readily available through the Senior

          4  Citizen Centers in New York City, would benefit many

          5  senior citizens who are otherwise unable to obtain a

          6  legal form of ID.  Since the MetroCard application

          7  does not require a birth certificate, it would

          8  eliminate the problems associated with securing

          9  documentation.

         10                 Therefore, I support Council Members

         11  Lopez's resolution to enact legislation to establish

         12  the senior citizen photo MetroCard as legal

         13  identification in New York City.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  I think we

         16  have a question from Council Member Cruz.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  Yes, Madame

         18  Chair, I believe that one of the previous speakers

         19  had said that she had gotten a MetroCard renewed

         20  automatically, was that Ms. Briggs?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Yes, that is

         22  right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  That it came in

         24  the mail.  My concern would be how do we stop them,

         25  is it an automatic thing that you are going to get
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          2  it, you know, for ten years?  I'm concerned only

          3  because in the event that someone passes away, does

          4  that card keep coming to that home, and I think that

          5  is a legitimate question?

          6                 While I agree that the MetroCard is a

          7  magnificent opportunity for seniors not to have to

          8  carry all their valuable papers around.  I think

          9  that it is a very relevant question.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Would you like

         11  to come forward and answer it, please?  Do you have

         12  something to say, I'm sorry?  Would you speak into

         13  the mic, please?  Identify yourself, again.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  Ms. Briggs?

         15                 MS. BRIGGS:  Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  Did you say it

         17  just automatically came, you didn't solicit it,

         18  right?

         19                 MS. BRIGGS:  Yes, it did.  No.

         20  Because before the year is up, it's printed on

         21  there, you know, when your year for that expires.

         22  And before that expired a new one was sent to me.

         23  Now should I pass, I assume through social security.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:   Margarita.

         25  Thank you, Ms. Briggs.  Thank you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  The MetroCard

          3  half- fare is connected to the benefit that the

          4  seniors have.  Without the benefit, they cannot get

          5  the MetroCard half- fare, it is connected to it.

          6  Then if they pass away, and I hope that none of you

          7  ever pass away.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  They don't look

          9  like they will.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  If you want to

         11  stay here, if you don't want to stay here, that is

         12  another story.  But therefore, if they pass away the

         13  first agency that will learn about that is the

         14  Social Security Administration, and immediately the

         15  Medicaid, Medicare Cards go out of business.

         16  Therefore, automatically cancels everything.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  Question

         18  answered, thank you so much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you

         20  both.  Thank you. Are there any other questions for

         21  the speakers?  Yes, go ahead.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I just want to

         23  clarify one issue, when you said that you had to

         24  bring a lot of documents in order to acquire your

         25  ID, can you clarify what were the documents that you
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          2  brought, to the Motor Vehicle?

          3                 MS. BULINA:  My friend and she have

          4  given me because she had taken, she said you need a

          5  passport, a social security card, a birth

          6  certificate, a phone bill or from electricity, a

          7  bank statement, a marriage certificate, and a credit

          8  card.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  What did you

         10  bring there that day?

         11                 MS. BULINA:  Well I have my papers

         12  here what I brought.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Okay.

         14                 MS. BULINA:  I brought my marriage

         15  certificate and it is from the church, and so she

         16  made a note of it because I said it was from the

         17  church, so she said I could go and get, come over

         18  here to the court and get one, but I don't really

         19  need it.  This is my telephone bill, I had my birth

         20  certificate with me, I had, what else do I have

         21  here, my birth certificate, my social security.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And with all

         23  of those documents that you presented there.

         24                 MS. BULINA:  I had my birth

         25  certificate, but according to their paper they only
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          2  gave me credit for three, and I should have had

          3  seven.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Then you

          5  couldn't get the ID.

          6                 MS. BULINA:  I couldn't get it,

          7  otherwise I would have went to Detroit for

          8  Thanksgiving, but I couldn't go, so she only gave me

          9  credit for three, they gave me credit for three

         10  things only.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  It's terrible.

         12                 MS. D'ALESSIO:  It's a point system,

         13  it operates on the point system.

         14                 MS. BULINA:  For three things she

         15  gave me credit.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you, I

         17  just wanted to demonstrate to the members how

         18  ridiculous this process is for seniors in order to

         19  acquire this ID.

         20                 I thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you all.

         22    Thank you both.  I would like to take this

         23  opportunity just to introduce the fact that we have

         24  some distinguished guests visiting us and for the

         25  purpose of identifying them, they are from the Volvo
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          2  Global Management Program.  Ladies and gentlemen, I

          3  know I saw one lady coming in with the gentlemen, I

          4  do want to welcome you and I hope you find the visit

          5  very interesting and informative, and please feel

          6  free if you want to say anything to take a form from

          7  the Sergeant- At- Arms and if you want to offer

          8  testimony, be part of the mob, okay?  You're

          9  welcome, thank you.

         10                 Okay, I would like to have Anastasia

         11  Baran, and, oh, I'm sorry, Tracy Boyland.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Just for the

         13  state to know, when you go to Motor Vehicles there

         14  is a point system, and the point system says you get

         15  two points for a birth certificate, you get another

         16  point for a social security card, how many points

         17  will the MetroCard register at, and in certain

         18  administrations you still have to have a certain

         19  amount of points to get the services that you need

         20  there.  So, I mean, how are we going to work through

         21  that, since we're throwing the question up in the

         22  air?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  The answer to

         24  that question is that the MetroCard is a government

         25  issued ID.  Same as a non driver's ID, same as a
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          2  driver's ID, same as a passport.  Therefore,

          3  wherever you go and they asked you for an issued

          4  government ID, it's done.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  So it would

          6  be equivalent to if it's 2 points or 4 points?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  That's it,

          8  it's done, that's it, it's done, you don't need

          9  nothing else after that, because it is government

         10  who is issuing it, therefore, it is what they are

         11  requesting.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Excellent,

         13  thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  You're

         15  welcome.  Nancy Spannbauer and Lucy Toomey, please,

         16  forward.  Oh, I'm sorry, did you have a question?

         17  Excuse me.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  Say government

         19  issue, so you're talking like social security card?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Social

         21  security is not accepted as a valid ID because it

         22  doesn't have a photo and it's a document that can be

         23  taken by somebody else.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  So then very

         25  possibly, we're preparing, that MetroCard may be the
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          2  first document ever?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Yes, for them,

          4  with an photo ID and a signature.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  Okay, thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  All right, now

          8  will the other ladies come forward, please?  Lucy

          9  Toomey, is she here?  Yes, would you come forward

         10  too, please?  Take a chair, and then as the mic

         11  comes forward, comes free, you can use the

         12  microphone.  Do you want to sit down?  Okay, you sat

         13  first, would you introduce yourself, please?

         14                 MS. BARON:  My name is Anastasia

         15  Baran.  I am at 98 Second Avenue, Ukrainian Senior

         16  Center.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.

         18                 MS. BARAN:  So not much I will say,

         19  but what happened to me last year.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.

         21                 MS. BARAN:  When I go to Miami and

         22  Kennedy Airport I come and check in, and first they

         23  ask me ticket.  I have ticket, see.  Then the lady

         24  said, do you have ID?  I say, no, I don't need, I

         25  don't work, I don't need ID.  And then she says, you
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          2  can't go to Miami.  I say, I go to Miami, not

          3  overseas.  You have to have something with ID with

          4  picture, and then I was lucky, I took with me my

          5  passport, because my sister died in Florida, for

          6  proof I'm sister.  And then I say, I have American

          7  passport, and she says, it's okay.  And then I

          8  showed them and I go to Miami.

          9                 So I say never nobody asked me about,

         10  you know, ID, some ID or passport for this.  And she

         11  said, now we have, you have to, you know, have

         12  something, like passport or ID.  And when I come

         13  back so I go to senior, to Ms. D'Alessio and I say I

         14  need this ID because I travel, you know, many to

         15  Florida, California, and I don't know where to go

         16  and what to do from beginning.  And I was lucky that

         17  I had passport last year, but this year I don't want

         18  it to happen to me again without ID, you know, with

         19  a picture.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Sure.

         21                 MS. BARAN:  And I need to make these,

         22  because next month I go again to Miami, and I want

         23  to do this, and I wouldn't have ID, okay?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  How did you

         25  buy your ticket, did you just go to a travel agent?
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          2                 MS. BARAN:  Travel agent didn't tell

          3  me about it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  That is the

          5  point I'm making now.  Travel agents should know

          6  enough by now, if it is six years old that the

          7  program of requiring a photo ID, the travel agents

          8  have a responsibility to share this information with

          9  their purchasers.

         10                 MS. BARAN:  Now I was surprised.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  I am too.

         12                 MS. BARAN:  That they didn't tell me.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Right.

         14                 MS. BARAN:  I bought ticket, third

         15  air, so they said I can go - -

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  So maybe we

         17  can communicate something to the travel agents, I

         18  don't know how you do that, but I certainly thing

         19  that they should be informing the people whom they

         20  serve as to the requirements for boarding an

         21  airplane.

         22                 MS. BARAN:  That's true.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Or whatever

         24  other kind of carrier it would be.

         25                 MS. BARAN:  But anyhow this year I
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          2  will make, you know, the ID card with me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  You will be

          4  safe this time.

          5                 MS. BARAN:  Right, and I don't have a

          6  problem.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.

          8                 MS. BARAN:  Okay?  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Yes, thank

         10  you.  And now, Madam?

         11                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  Good morning and

         12  thank you for the opportunity to be here.  My name

         13  is Nancy Spannbauer, I'm the Director of Stein

         14  Senior Center on 24th Street in Manhattan.

         15                 I believe that Resolution 800, if

         16  enacted into law would be beneficial to many of New

         17  York senior citizens.  I have been aware of several

         18  members of Stein Senior Center who have endured

         19  hardships because they had no photo identification.

         20                 One member of our Board of Directors

         21  was unable to be a signatory on our checking account

         22  at a local bank because she didn't have a photo ID.

         23  Another member told me of having to postpone for

         24  several days her trip to see her sister in Florida,

         25  we have heard that a lot today, because she had to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  get a photo ID. She and other members have made

          3  their way down to the Motor Vehicle Bureau, stood in

          4  long lines, paid a fee, in order to obtain a non

          5  driver's license.  This is not difficult for some

          6  seniors, but for others it is nearly impossible.

          7                 In my experience and that of my

          8  staff, this has not been a problem for a large

          9  number of people, but those for whom it is problem,

         10  it is a very big problem.  As more people move into

         11  their later years, the numbers will mount.

         12                 Thank you for considering this issue.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  I think we're

         14  very indebted to colleague, Council Member Margarita

         15  Lopez for bringing this forward.  I certainly never

         16  had any idea that this was such a problem as you are

         17  describing, and I didn't know it was even a problem

         18  to begin with, let alone having the widespread

         19  negative effects that it has had.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Before they

         21  leave, may I ask a question?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  You certainly

         23  may, go right ahead.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Both of you,

         25  do you know what is the process to get the MetroCard
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          2  half- fare?  Are you aware?

          3                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  You come to my

          4  senior center, and we will see that you get signed

          5  up.  We have applications, or you can call have one

          6  sent in the mail.

          7                 But senior centers are 335 of them

          8  around the City and they can help people.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  And do the

         10  seniors have to go any other place beside your

         11  senior center to get these MetroCards?

         12                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  Not as long as they

         13  fill out the applications, have their picture taken

         14  and so forth.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Are you aware

         16  that the Transportation Authority also can place the

         17  bus in front of your facility?

         18                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  They do.  They come

         19  around regularly to senior centers and to the corner

         20  of 23rd Street and First Avenue twice a month,

         21  they're there.  And so it's not just when they come

         22  to the senior centers.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  How much money

         24  do you have to pay to acquire the half- fare

         25  MetroCard?
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          2                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  Nothing.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Say that

          4  again?

          5                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  Nothing, you don't

          6  have to pay anything.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Say it loudly

          8  so it goes into the machine.

          9                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  It's free, it's

         10  free.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  So the seniors

         12  do not have to pay a single penny for acquiring this

         13  ID?

         14                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Do you know

         16  how much money you have to pay to acquire a

         17  passport, an American passport?

         18                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  Thirty- five or

         19  forty- five dollars, I don't remember which the last

         20  time I got one.  I think it was forty- five, right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  You're welcome.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Yes, Ma'am.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  What happens
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          2  to the seniors that are homebound, the seniors that

          3  do not attend your senior center, God forbid,

          4  they're all attending your senior center though?

          5                 MS. SPANNBAUER:  Well if they're

          6  homebound, they're usually not on the bus and

          7  subway.  They will use Access- A- Ride, but that is

          8  another application.  These agencies, if they're

          9  pressed, will sometimes send someone to the home.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, fine.

         12  And why don't you ask the lady, since she is so,

         13  give her the mic, thank you.

         14                 MS. TOOMEY:  Good morning.  Thank you

         15  for the opportunity to be here this wonderful

         16  morning.  Guessing that we are going to get the

         17  biggest ID.

         18                 My name is Lucy Toomey, and as a

         19  senior citizen of New York City, I believe that the

         20  Senior Citizen MetroCard should be used as legal

         21  identification.  So I support the State Legislature

         22  and the Governor with regard to enacting legislation

         23  concerning this issue.

         24                 Thank you, Margarita.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you,
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          2  Margarita.

          3                 MS. TOOMEY:  The Director of the

          4  Center I go, the Stein Center.  Also I am

          5  representing the Gustavus Adolpus Senior Center at

          6  22nd Street and Third Avenue.  We desperately need

          7  this identification, and more than that, as we're

          8  heading into the millennium the advancement with the

          9  technology is going more faster than ever, there go

         10  money and power, it is not we, it's me that the

         11  millennium soon will be with us, it's supposed to be

         12  we, with humanistic concern.  We feel also, middle

         13  and low class are sinking without a lot of pain,

         14  personal, our families, I can tell you, I am able to

         15  write a book.

         16                 Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Before anyone

         18  leaves, Council Member Clarke would like to ask or

         19  say something.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  I guess I

         21  just want to say to the seniors that have come this

         22  morning how personally impressed I am that on a day

         23  with the rain outside and how easily people become

         24  discouraged, especially even when they have an

         25  important issue to address, could find excuses not
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          2  to come today.  So I just want to express to all of

          3  you my own personal gratification and admiration for

          4  you for having come.

          5                 My mother became 100 years old on

          6  October 23rd, and I continue to prayer for her

          7  continued good health, and I'm hoping that she will

          8  be around with us for many years to come, especially

          9  because she is 100 and very much intact, feisty as

         10  anything, and would probably be willing to come here

         11  to be fighting for her right also.  So I just want

         12  to say to you how impressed I am and how thankful

         13  and grateful that you would not be deterred by bad

         14  weather.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  We are all in

         16  agreement with that statement.  Thank you so much,

         17  Council member.

         18                 And I would like to introduce the

         19  fact that we have been joined by Council Member Mike

         20  Nelson who is also a colleague and a member of this

         21  Committee.  Thank you very much.

         22                 Are there any other statements that

         23  anyone would like to make?  Yes, Ma'am.

         24                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  It is more of a

         25  question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Your name,

          3  honey.

          4                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  I'm Ghislayne de

          5  la Fonchais, okay?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay.

          7                 MS. DE LA FONCHAIS:  And again, it is

          8  a question that arises from what you said about

          9  travel.  I go to Europe almost every year to see my

         10  family, but I guess I hadn't traveled in the US, and

         11  so like yourself, I was not aware of the fact that

         12  they ask for ID when you show up at the gate.  So if

         13  having the MetroCard is going to be useful on your

         14  way over, it certainly isn't going to help you when

         15  you're in San Francisco, so perhaps travel agents

         16  would have to really have a responsibility to tell

         17  you that you're going to need something else to come

         18  back.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Okay, that is

         20  a well point, well taken.  Thank you very much for

         21  saying that.

         22                 Oh, we're being joined by Council

         23  Member Tom White, who is also a member of the

         24  Committee on Aging.

         25                 At this point, I would like to ask
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          2  the sponsor of the legislation, Margarita Lopez to

          3  read the contents of the bill, resolution on which

          4  we will be voting, so if you will, please, Council

          5  Member Lopez?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Resolution

          7  calling up the New York State Legislature and the

          8  Governor to enact legislation establishing Senior

          9  Citizen MetroCard as legal identification in New

         10  York City.  Whereas the Metropolitan Transit

         11  Authority, MTA, is authorized as a public benefit

         12  corporation by the New York State Public Authority

         13  Law, Charter 43- 8, Section 12- 63, and where

         14  Section 12- 64 of the Public Authority Law as state

         15  that the MTA should be regarded as performing an

         16  essential governmental function in carrying out its

         17  purpose and its exercise the powers granted by the

         18  title, and whereas the MTA issues Senior Citizen

         19  MetroCard to individuals who are 65 years of age and

         20  over and show proof of that fact, for example, by

         21  presenting a driver's license or non- driver

         22  identification, a birth certificate, or a passport,

         23  and where a Senior Citizen MetroCard contain a

         24  current photograph of the senior citizen in addition

         25  to a signature, and where Senior Citizen MetroCard
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          2  are often the only form of identification that many

          3  seniors carry along with their Medicaid Card, and

          4  whereas considering the fact that the MTA is

          5  authorized governmental entity a Senior Citizen

          6  MetroCard should be accepted as legal identification

          7  at government agencies, stores, banks, and other

          8  commercial establishment, now therefore, be it

          9  resolved that the Council of the City of New York

         10  calls upon the New York State Legislator and the

         11  Governor to enact legislation establishing Senior

         12  Citizen MetroCards as legal identification in New

         13  York City. Referred to the Committee on Aging.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you very

         15  much, and this is a resolution on which we are going

         16  to be asked to vote, and if Claude, Mr. Cherry,

         17  would you please call the roll?

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Harrison.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Absolutely,

         20  aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Clarke.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  May I be

         23  excused?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Yes, you may.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Yes, I would
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          2  like to be added to the bill, and also to

          3  congratulate Council Member Lopez for her consistent

          4  good work since she has entered the Council and I'm

          5  impressed very much by your work.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Cruz.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CRUZ:  Absolutely yes,

          8  and I too would like to prime, and ditto remarks

          9  from Ms. Clarke.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  White.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  Yes, I vote in

         12  favor, as well as I would like to be added, Madame

         13  Chair, as a prime sponsor on this legislation.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Assuming that

         15  the sponsor will accept the prime sponsorship, I'm

         16  sure.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Everyone who

         18  would like to become prime sponsor is more than

         19  welcome, without no question.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Lasher.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  I vote aye

         22  and I would like to be added as a prime sponsor

         23  also, our seniors are probably one of our most

         24  important commodities, and we hope that they will be

         25  around a long time enjoying and making everything
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          2  better for them and easier for them, is the

          3  ridiculousness with the IDs are just nonsense.  I

          4  mean what do they expect somebody who probably is a

          5  senior and probably well into seventies and

          6  eighties, what kind of harm or what do they expect

          7  these people are going to do that is going to be so

          8  outrageous.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Carry dope.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER:  Something

         11  that should be almost automatic for a senior once

         12  they reach a certain age to say that they have

         13  earned it by this point, they deserve it, they don't

         14  have to be put through hassles, they should be just

         15  waived on almost any type of transportation that is

         16  necessary for them.  It is just incredible that

         17  seniors have to go through this and have to go

         18  through problems with identifying themselves and

         19  showing IDs, when it is very difficult that many

         20  documents are already lost, and so I vote aye and I

         21  think that we're sending a good message to the State

         22  Legislature and I think that what we have done

         23  today, I think will enhance the abilities of many of

         24  our seniors to go places and not worry about do I

         25  have the right ID, do I have the right this, and do
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          2  I have the right that?  And so we think that you

          3  have done well here, and we appreciate what you have

          4  said to us, and I think we all took it in.  As you

          5  can see the members, all basically agree that you

          6  are correct in what you want, and we hope that you

          7  will have it soon.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Boyland.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  May I be

         11  excused to explain my vote?  Thank you.  I vote aye

         12  on this legislation.  I also would like to be a

         13  prime sponsor of this.  I was thinking, Margarita

         14  and I have come into together, and one thing I

         15  always thing, tomorrow I will be attending,

         16  sponsoring a function where there will be 500

         17  seniors, we call it our Christmas Extravaganza, and

         18  one think I want to, I always say to them, I hope

         19  when I become 90 and 95, or if I make it to 50, I

         20  hope that I would have people like yourselves that

         21  are sitting on this Committee to look out for me, to

         22  take care of me, to initiate legislation that would

         23  be helpful to my life and my existences. So I want

         24  to thank and commend Council Member Margarita Lopez

         25  for her vision, and also the Chair for bringing this
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          2  forth and making this happen, and I look forward to

          3  letting my seniors know that they're people in the

          4  City that do not live in the Borough of Brooklyn,

          5  which is a good thing, right?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Are you

          7  suggesting that they thing only Brooklyn exists?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  No, but,

          9  Una, did we say that.  We wouldn't.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  You better

         11  not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  We,

         13  Margarita now is working, we are all working for all

         14  of the people in New York City, but I want to

         15  commend Margarita on her vision today.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  You're

         18  welcome.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Nelson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Madam Chair,

         21  may I be excused to explain my vote?  Thank you.  I

         22  want to echo what most of the Council members have

         23  already said.  I just want to add that through the

         24  years I have had many people come into my office

         25  complaining that how could they get any type of
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          2  proof to go anywhere, they don't have a driver's

          3  license, they don't have other type of proof, and it

          4  seemed ridiculous to me then.  So I'm very proud to

          5  be a member of this Committee, and I congratulate

          6  Member Lopez and our illustrious Chair who always

          7  ushers through these wonderful laws, enacting

          8  legislation that helps the senior citizens of our

          9  community.  So I vote aye, thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:   The vote

         11  stands at 7 in the affirmative, none in the

         12  negative, with no abstentions, and it is still open.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 I would like to have the sponsor make

         16  a concluding statement, please.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I just want to

         18  thank each one of you for always keeping me on my

         19  toes, for always telling me what to do, and in

         20  particular, for sending the idea to resolve this

         21  problem to me.

         22                 I appreciate the way that you worked

         23  with me in my office, and I thank you for everything

         24  that you teach me every day, and God Bless you,

         25  you're the greatest people.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  Absolutely.

          3                 Thank you for coming, and the meeting

          4  is adjourned.  Thank you.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 11:45 a.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 14th day of December 1999.
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         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          PAT WTULICH
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          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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